
Economic Development 
Commission 

 

Economic Development Commission Meeting  

Agenda 

Monday, September 9, 2019  

4 – 5 pm, City Hall Conference Room  

   
 

Meeting Purpose 
Zoning Ordinance Revision, Market Analysis and Business Visitation updates.  
Discuss draft CEAs, make recommendations on proposed terms of the CEAs.   

Meeting Framework 
 Zoning Ordinance Revision 
 Credit Enhancement Agreements:  Baxter & Cutts, LLC (Quince) and  
 Foresite Realty (Saco Biddeford Dental Associates) 
 Market Analysis 
 Business Visitation and Outreach Program 

Agenda 

1. Call to Order 4:00 pm 
2. Approval of EDC Meeting Minutes: August 12, 2019  
3. Executive Session pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. § 405(6)(c)      4:05 pm 
4. Planning and Development Initiatives and Updates       4:20 pm  

 Zoning Ordinance Revision Update 
5. Economic Development Initiatives & Updates       4:25 pm 

 Market Analysis 
 Business Visitation & Outreach 

6. New Business           4:30 pm 
 Baxter & Cutts, LLC (Quince) Credit Enhancement Agreement 

(CEA) 
 Foresite Realty (Biddeford-Saco Dental Associates Credit      4:45 pm 

Enhancement Agreement (CEA) 
7. Adjournment           5:00 pm 

 

Strategic Priorities & Outcomes / Next Steps 
 Next EDC Meeting Date: Monday, October 7, 2019 (note change of 
 date due to the October 14 holiday) 
 Zoning Ordinance Revision: anticipated completion November 2019 
 Market Analysis Timeline: September – December 2019 
 Business Outreach & Visitation Program Timeline: Sept. 2019 – July 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Saco Economic Development Commission Meeting – Agenda September 9, 2019 
 

Materials 

* Meeting Agenda 
* Minutes: August 12, 2019 
* Baxter & Cutts, LLC (Quince) 
Credit Enhancement Agreement 
* Foresite Realty (Biddeford-
Saco Dental Associates) Credit 
Enhancement Agreement 
 
 
 
 

Commission Members 

Bette Brunswick, Chair  
Stephen DuPuis 
Michael Eon  
Andrew Goldberg 
Andrea Moreshead 
Jay St. John 
Robert Quentin  
William Armitage, Ex Officio 
Robert Biggs, Ex Officio 
James LaBelle, Ex Officio 
William Doyle, Council Liaison 
 
Staff 
 
Denise Clavette 
Planning & Development Director 
Jessa Berna 
Business Development Specialist 
Isabelle Oechslie 
Program Coordinator 
 

 
 



August 12, 2019 Economic Development Commission Meeting Minutes 

Economic Development 
Commission 

 

Economic Development Commission Meeting  

Minutes 

Monday, August 12, 2019 

4 – 5 pm, City Hall Conference Room    

   
 

1. Convene Meeting; Welcome & Introductions 
Chair Bette Brunswick convened the meeting at 4:00 PM.  
 

2. Approval of EDC Meeting Minutes of May 13, 2019 
Jay St. John motioned to approve the EDC Meeting Minutes of May 13, 2019 
as presented.  Michael Eon seconded the motion.  Motion carried 
unanimously.    
 
3. Planning and Development Initiatives and Updates 
 Planning and Development Staff 
Denise Clavette introduced two new additions to the Planning and 
Development department; Jessa Berna, Business Development Specialist, and 
Isabelle Oechslie, Program Coordinator.   

 Planning and Development Focus Areas and Initiatives 
Discussed a timeline for the Planning and Development Focus Areas and 
Initiatives three-year plan.  The three areas are:  business development, 
development collaborations, and planning.  D. Clavette outlined the main 
goals of each area.   
 
In order to focus on business development, the department is planning to focus 
on business retention and attraction as well as workforce development.  The 
business visitation program will begin this fall.  The goal of this program is to 
provide business outreach and support and will give staff the opportunity to 
assess businesses’ needs.   ExecutivePulse Software will be utilized and is a 
confidential database for Planning and Development staff.  In addition, staff 
will develop a section on the City’s website for available properties.  
Furthermore, staff plans to work with the Biddeford & Saco Chamber of 
Commerce as well as state and regional initiatives to promote workforce 
development. 
 
City Staff is working on a variety of grants and resources for businesses.  We 
also plan to create a resource and grants toolkit that local businesses can access.  
Also planning to update content on the City’s website. 
 
The Zoning Ordinance Revision project is well underway, with the goal to have 
the updates to the land use ordinance passed by the first week in November.  
After the Zoning Ordinance Revision is complete, staff will begin meeting with 
developers and property owners with contract zones in an effort to dissolve as 
many as possible.   
 
Comprehensive Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan needs to be updated by 2021, 
and the City will need to get a committee in place by February 2020 in order to 
be done by 2021. 
 
 

Materials 

* Meeting Agenda 
* Minutes: May 13, 2019 
* Planning & Development 
Focus Areas and Initiatives 
* FY19 Annual Report 

Commission Members Present  

Bette Brunswick, Chair  
Stephen DuPuis 
Michael Eon 
Andrea Moreshead 
Jay St. John  
Robert Biggs, Ex Officio 
James LaBelle, Ex Officio 
William Doyle, Council Liaison 

 

 Staff  Present 

Denise Clavette 
Planning & Development Director 

Jessa Berna 
Business Development Specialist 
 
Isabelle Oechslie 
Program Coordinator 
 
 
 



 

August 12, 2019 Economic Development Commission Meeting Minutes 

 FY2019 Annual Report 
FY2019 Annual Report was discussed briefly.  Subsequent to the Annual Report being compiled, all 
TIF amendments have been approved by Maine Department of Economic and Community 
Development.  Development programs have been approved, and the TIF funds are available to be 
expended.   
 Zoning Ordinance Revision Update 
The Zoning Ordinance Revision is under a tight timeline to be adopted by November.  Jessa Berna 
and Emily Cole-Prescott are working to incorporate comments from the Steering Committee, and all 
boards/committees/staff.   
 
4. Economic Development Initiatives & Updates  
 Market Analysis Timeline 
J. Berna and D. Clavette will be developing the RFP for the Market Analysis.  D. Clavette would 
like to have two to three board members as well as some City Councilors to sit on the Market 
Analysis working group; the group’s work will consist primarily of electronic communications and 
review.  Those interested in serving, should also be willing to be interviewed as one of the 
stakeholders.  D. Clavette will reach out to EDC members to see who would be interested in serving.  
  
 Business Visitation & Outreach 
D. Clavette is also looking for a team to serve and help with business visitation.  Preference is to 
involve staff, an EDC member and a City Councilor present, if they are interested in participating.    
The business visitation program will involve sending a mailing to business owners (primarily derived 
from the Vision database of businesses that pay personal property tax).  Business owners will be 
invited to participate in an initial survey and asked if they would be interested in meeting with City 
staff and elected / appointed officials.  The business visitation and outreach program is designed to 
help make connections, understand workforce challenges, and much more.   
 
There was discussion about whether we should require an elected official to be present at these 
outreach meetings.  The group concluded that this was not necessary and may create conflict with 
scheduling the outreach meetings.  However, D. Clavette will strongly encourage City Councilors to 
participate, and will craft a memo to the council to gauge their interest in being present.  
 
 TIF/CEA Update 
All TIF amendments have been approved at the Maine DECD.  New CEAs will be brought forth for 
the September EDC meeting.   
 
5. New Business 
Staff will be having preliminary conversations with an attorney in mid-September to discuss Route 1 
Transit-oriented TIF district.   
 
Rob Biggs, Saco Main Street discussed the concern about how Saco’s high impact fees are having a 
negative impact on the potential for new businesses to open in the Downtown.  D. Clavette and J. 
Berna are going to meet with Howard Carter, Water Resource to discuss the concerns.    
 
Groundbreaking was held today for Hancock Lumber. 
 
6. Adjournment 
Mike Eon moved to adjourn the meeting at 5:02 PM.  Jay St. John seconded the motion.  Motion 
carried. 
 



 Page -   1 
 

Credit Enhancement Request for Cutts Mill (Building Number 7) 

Overview 

Quince & Co (Quince), a hand-knitting yarn and knitwear design company, is seeking to redevelop Cutts 
Mill (Building Number 7) on Saco Island in Saco Mane.  The developer owner would be Baxter and Cutts, 
LLC, the real estate company under the same ownership as Quince.  The building is a 9,440 square foot 
mill historic mill building built in the late 1880’s.  The property currently is vacant except for the small, 
300 SF corner of the second floor which abuts The Run of the Mill’s (a local restaurant) outdoor deck 
space which is used to prepare appetizers and pub food for the deck area on night weekends. This use 
will continue after redevelopment.  Quince will redevelop the remainder space to be used for their 
warehousing and distribution, which is currently located in Biddeford Maine. The estimated cost for 
redevelopment to be incurred by Quince is $1 million which includes acquisition, hard, and soft 
development costs.  The project will enable Quince to locate and sustain five full time and five part time 
at the Saco location, with an expected increase of at least two full-time people in the next two years.  In 
the future and as the company grows, Quince will consider the site for the consolidation of their 
operations into one headquarters. 

 

About Quince 

Quince & Co. is a hand-knitting yarn and knitwear design company selling to over 100 yarn shops around 
the world and tens of thousands of customers through its retail website.  Quince sources its products as 
much as it can from American producers, helping to keep sheep grazing on American lands and spinners 
spinning American mills. The company also owns the knitting accessories and tools brand Twig & Horn, 
and Stone Wool, a yarn brand specializing in breed-specific wool yarns.   

The Economic and Fiscal Case for the Request 

The following economic benefits will result from this proposed CEA agreement: 

• $1 million of new property tax value 
• Continued new investment and economic activity n the Saco Island are of the City 



 Page -   2 
 

• Retention of five full-time and five part-time employees at the Saco location 
• An estimated increase of at least two full-time employees after the first two years 
• The potential to become the headquarters for Quince 
• Diversification of the City’s economic and tax base through knitwear design company adding to 

the City’s creative economy 
• New dollars into the local economy through export sales 

 

 

 

 



13712423.3 

 
 

 

 

 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT 

between 

CITY OF SACO, MAINE 

and 

BAXTER & CUTTS, LLC 
 

DATED:  August 27, 2019 



13712423.3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .........................................................................................................4 
Section 1.1.  Definitions.......................................................................................................4 
Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. .....................................................................6 

ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS .7 
Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. .......................................................7 
Section 2.2.  Liens. ...............................................................................................................7 
Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; Cap 

on Tax Increment Revenues. ...........................................................................8 
Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. .............................................8 
Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. .............................................................9 

ARTICLE III PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS ...............................................................................9 
Section 3.1.  Developer Payments. ......................................................................................9 
Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. ...............................................................................9 
Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. ......................................................................................9 
Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional. ...........................................................................10 
Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation. .......................................................................................10 

ARTICLE IV PLEDGE ..............................................................................................................10 
Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project 

Cost Subaccount Development Program Fund. ............................................10 
Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest. ....................................................................................10 
Section 4.3.  Further Instruments. ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund. ..........................................11 
Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. ......................................................................11 

ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ...........................................................................12 
Section 5.1.  Events of Default. .........................................................................................12 
Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. ....................................................................................12 
Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. ..................................................................................13 

ARTICLE VI EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION ......................................13 
Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. ..............................................................................13 
Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. ...........................................................13 

ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST ..............14 
Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. .........................................................14 
Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. ......................................................14 

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS .........................................................................................14 
Section 8.1.  Successors. ....................................................................................................14 
Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture. ....................................15 
Section 8.3.  Severability. ..................................................................................................15 



13712423.3 

Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort 
Claims Act. ...................................................................................................15 

Section 8.5.  Counterparts. .................................................................................................15 
Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits ..................................................................15 
Section 8.7.  Notices. .........................................................................................................16 
Section 8.8.  Amendments. ................................................................................................16 
Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees. .................................................................17 
Section 8.10.  Integration. ..................................................................................................17 
Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution. .....................................................................................17 
Section 8.12.Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement. ...........................................................17 

 



 

4 
13712423.3 

THIS CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of 
August 26, 2019 by and between the City of Saco (the “City”), a municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Maine located in York County, Maine, and Baxter & Cutts, 
LLC (the “Developer”), a Maine limited liability company with an address of 22 Monument 
Square Suite 602 Portland, Maine 04101; 

WITNESSETH THAT 
 

WHEREAS, the City designated the Saco Downtown Omnibus Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District Municipal (the “District”), pursuant to Chapter 206 of 
Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes,and approved a municipal development program and 
financial plan for the District (the “Development Program”) on February 21, 2017.  The District 
and Development Program were approved by the State of Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development (the “Department”) on August 7, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, on February 19, 2019, the City approved the First Amendment to the 
District (the “First Amendment”) and such First Amendment was submitted to the Department 
on February 26, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the First Amendment was approved by the Department; and 

WHEREAS, the approved Development Program for the District provides that in the 
discretion of the City up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Tax Increment Revenues 
generated by new development within the District may be returned to the Developer during the 
remaining term of the District, pursuant to a credit enhancement agreement, for the purpose of 
defraying the Developer’s project costs; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer have agreed as to the portion of the Tax 
Increment Revenues associated with the Developer’s Project (as hereinafter defined) that will be 
returned to the Developer; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer desire and intend that this Credit Enhancement 
Agreement be and constitute the credit enhancement agreement contemplated by the 
Development Program; and 

WHEREAS, as required by Section 3.05 of the Development Program and the 
Department approval, the City held a public hearing on October (date), 2019 at which the 
provisions of this Credit Enhancement Agreement were approved; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and in consideration of 
the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.1.  Definitions.   



 

5 
13712423.3 

The terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

“Act” means chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes and regulations 
adopted thereunder, as amended from time to time. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Credit Enhancement Agreement between the City and the 
Developer dated as set forth above, as it may be amended from time to time. 

“Captured Assessed Value” means the amount, stated as a percentage, of Increased 
Assessed Value that is retained in each Tax Year during the term of the District, as specified in 
section 2.3 hereof. 

 
“Commissioner” means the Commissioner of the Department of Economic and 

Community Development. 

 “Current Assessed Value” means the then-current assessed value of all taxable real 
property constituting Developer’s Project within the Developer Property as determined by the 
City’s Assessor as of April 1st of each Tax Year during the term of this Agreement. 
 

“Department” shall have the meaning given such term in the recitals hereto. 

“Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in the first paragraph hereto. 

“Developer Project” means the redevelopment of Cutts Mill Building 7 on Saco Island to 
be completed by Developer at Developer Property and originally consisting of a facility of 
approximately 9,440, square feet and any addition thereto during the Term.  

“Developer Property” means the property identified as Cutts Mill Building 7 on Saco 
Island (City Tax Map as Map 037, Lot 001) 

“Developer Tax Increment Revenues” means that portion of all real property taxes 
assessed by and paid to the City in any Tax Year, in excess of any special assessment by City or 
any State or special district tax, upon the Captured Assessed Value, allocated and pledged to the 
Developer pursuant to Articles II and III of this Agreement, to support the Developer Project on 
the Developer Property.     

“Development Program” shall have the meaning given such term in the recitals hereto. 

“Development Program Fund” means the Municipal TIF Development Program Fund 
described in section IV(D) of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant 
to Article II hereof and 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A).  The Development Program Fund shall 
consist of a Project Cost Account with at least one subaccount: the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project 
Cost Subaccount. 

“District” shall have the meaning given such term in the first recital hereto. 

“Effective Date” shall mean the date of execution of this Agreement. 



 

6 
13712423.3 

“Financial Plan” means the financial plan described in section IV of the Development 
Program. 

“Fiscal Year” means July 1st to June 30th of the subsequent calendar year or such other 
fiscal year as the City may from time to time establish. 

“Increased Assessed Value” means, for each Fiscal Year during the term of this 
Agreement, the amount by which the Current Assessed Value for such year exceeds the Original 
Assessed Value.  If the Current Assessed Value is less than or equal to the Original Assessed 
Value in any given Tax Year, there is no Increased Assessed Value in that Tax Year. 

“Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount” means the subaccount within the 
Development Program Fund in which the Developer Tax Increment Revenues shall be deposited. 

“Original Assessed Value” means zero dollars ($284,400), the taxable assessed value of 
the Developer Property as of March 31, 2019 (April 1, 2018). 

“Project Cost Account” means the project cost account described in the Financial Plan 
Section of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant to Title 30-A 
M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A)(1) and Article II hereof. 

“Property Tax” means any and all ad valorem property taxes levied, charged or assessed 
against real property located in the District by the City, or on its behalf. 

“State” means the State of Maine. 

“Tax Increment Revenue Cap” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 2.3. 

“Tax Payment Date” means the later of the date(s) on which Property Taxes levied by the 
City on real and personal property located in the District are (a) due and payable, or (b) are 
actually paid by or on behalf of the Developer to, and received by, the City. 

“Tax Year” shall have the meaning given such term in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5222(18), as 
amended, to wit:  April 1st to March 31st. 

“Term” shall mean all Tax Years in the period beginning from April 1, 2019-March 31, 
2020 through April 1, 2038-March 31, 2039, but not beginning before the Effective Date.  

“City” shall have the meaning given such term in the first paragraph hereto. 

Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. 

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder” and any similar 
terms, as used in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement, and the term “hereafter” means after, 
and the term “heretofore” means before, the date of delivery of this Agreement. 



 

7 
13712423.3 

(b) Words importing a particular gender mean and include correlative words of every 
other gender and words importing the singular number mean and include the plural number and 
vice versa. 

(c) Words importing persons mean and include firms, associations, partnerships 
(including limited partnerships), trusts, corporations and other legal entities, including public or 
governmental bodies, as well as any natural persons. 

(d) Any headings preceding the texts of the several Articles and sections of this 
Agreement, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall be 
solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall 
they affect its meaning, construction or effect. 

(e) All approvals, consents and acceptances required to be given or made by any 
signatory hereto shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

(f) All notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing and, unless a certain 
number of days is specified, within a reasonable time. 

(g) If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause, provision or section shall not affect 
any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. 

The City has created and established a segregated fund in the name of the City designated 
as the “Saco Downtown Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing 
District” (hereinafter the “Development Program Fund”) to be funded by tax payments actually 
made by properties located within the District, and in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of, the Development Program and 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A).  The Development Program 
Fund is pledged to and charged with the payment of project costs as outlined in the Financial 
Plan of the Development Program and as provided in 30-A M.R.S.A.§ 5227(3)(A)(1), in the 
manner and priority provided in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(B), and as set forth in Section 3.1(b) 
below. 

 
Section 2.2.  Liens. 

The City shall not create any liens, encumbrances or other interests of any nature 
whatsoever, nor shall it hypothecate the Development Program Fund described in section 2.1 
hereof or any funds therein, other than the interest in favor of the Developer hereunder in and to 
the amounts on deposit; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit the creation of 
property tax liens on property in the District in accordance with and entitled to priority pursuant 
to Maine law. 



 

8 
13712423.3 

Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; 
Cap on Tax Increment Revenues.  

(a) For each Tax Year of the Term, the City shall retain in the District, for purposes of 
depositing Property Taxes associated therewith, the percentage of the Increased Assessed Value 
determined in accordance with the following table:  

 

 
 

 
(b) In each of said Tax Years, the City shall deposit into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC 

Project Cost Subaccount of the Development Program Fund, within five (5) business days of 
each Tax Payment Date, that portion of the tax payment made by Developer as represents 
Developer Tax Increment Revenues. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.3, no deposits shall be 
made to the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount to the extent such deposits would 
cause the aggregate amount of deposits to such Fund to exceed the Tax Increment Revenue Cap 
(as hereinafter defined).  For purposes of this Agreement, the “Tax Increment Revenue Cap” 
means an amount initially equal to $225,000. 

Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. 

All monies in the Development Program Fund shall in all cases be used and applied to 
fund fully the City's payment obligations to Developer described in Articles II and III hereof.    



 

9 
13712423.3 

Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. 

All monies paid into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount under the 
provisions hereof and the provisions of the Development Program shall be held by the City for 
the benefit of the Developer in a segregated account. The City shall never be under any 
obligation to deposit into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount, any funds other than 
Developer Tax Increment Revenues received by the City from Developer, the City’s obligations 
under this Agreement extending only to funds that are Developer Tax Increment Revenues 
actually paid by Developer to the City. Interest earnings thereon shall be retained by the City for 
the City’s own use. 

ARTICLE III 
PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

 
Section 3.1.  Developer Payments.    

(a) The City agrees to pay Developer, within thirty (30) days following each Tax 
Payment Date during the Term, all amounts then on deposit in the Baxter & Cutts, LLC  Project 
Cost Subaccount; provided, however, the City shall have no obligation to make payment while 
any mechanics’ liens shall be encumbering the Developer Property for a period of more than 
thirty (30) days. Upon the discharge or other termination of any such mechanics’ liens, the City 
shall pay any amounts previously withheld on account thereof. 

(b)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if, with respect to any 
Tax Payment Date, any portion of the Property Taxes assessed against real property within the 
Developer Property for the Tax Year concerned remains unpaid, because of a valuation dispute 
or otherwise, the Property Taxes actually paid with respect to that Tax Year shall be applied, 
first, to payment in full of taxes due in respect of the Original Assessed Value; and second, to the 
extent of funds remaining, to payment of the Developer Tax Increment Revenues for the Tax 
Year concerned.     

Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. 

If the City should fail or be unable to make any of the payments at the time and in the 
amount required under the foregoing provisions of this Article III; or if the amount deposited 
into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount is insufficient to reimburse the Developer 
for the full amount Developer has actually paid in taxes, the amount or installment so unpaid 
shall continue as a limited obligation of the City, under the terms and conditions hereinafter set 
forth, until the amount unpaid shall have been fully paid.  The Developer shall have the right to 
initiate and maintain an action to specifically enforce the City’s payment obligations hereunder. 

Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. 

The payments provided for in this Article III shall be paid directly to the Developer at the 
address specified in Section 8.7 hereof in the manner provided hereinabove, for the Developer’s 
own use and benefit so long as such use is consistent with the requirements of the Act, by check 



 

10 
13712423.3 

drawn by the City on the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount of the Development 
Program Fund. 

Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional. 

Subject to Developer’s compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 
Obligations of the City to make the payments described in this Agreement in accordance with the 
terms hereof shall be absolute and unconditional, and the City shall not suspend or discontinue 
any payment hereunder or terminate this Agreement for any cause, other than by court order or 
by reason of a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that the District is invalid or 
otherwise illegal. 

Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation. 

 The City’s obligations of payment hereunder shall be limited obligations of the City 
payable solely from Developer Tax Increment Revenues pledged therefor under this Agreement 
and actually received by the City from or on behalf of the Developer.  The City’s obligations 
hereunder shall not constitute a general debt or a general obligation or charge against or pledge of 
the faith and credit or taxing power of the City, the State of Maine, or of any municipality or 
political subdivision thereof, but shall be payable solely from that portion of Tax Increment 
Revenues actually deposited by City from taxes paid by Developer into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC  
Project Cost Subaccount of the Development Program Fund and payable to Developer hereunder.  
This Agreement shall not directly, indirectly or contingently obligate the City, the State of Maine, 
or any other City or political subdivision to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever 
therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment, excepting the City’s obligation to levy 
property taxes upon the Developer Project and the pledge established under this Agreement of the 
Developer Tax Increment Revenues received by the City from Developer. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
PLEDGE 

 
Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Baxter & Cutts, LLC 
Project Cost Subaccount Development Program Fund. 

In consideration of this Agreement and other valuable consideration and for the purpose 
of securing payment of the amounts provided for hereunder to the Developer by the City, 
according to the terms and conditions contained herein, and in order to secure the performance 
and observance of all of the City’s covenants and agreements contained herein, and subject to 
section 2.3(c) above, the City hereby grants a security interest in and pledges to the Developer 
the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount as defined herein and addressed further in 
Section 2.1 hereof and all sums of money and other securities and investments therein.   

Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest. 

(a) To the extent reasonably necessary to satisfy the requirements of this Agreement, 
the City will at such time and from time to time as requested by Developer establish the Baxter 



 

11 
13712423.3 

& Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount as defined herein and addressed further in Section 2.1 
hereof as a segregated fund under the control of an escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary 
selected by Developer so as to perfect Developer's interest therein.  The cost of establishing and 
monitoring such a fund shall be borne exclusively by the Developer.  In the event such a fund is 
established under the control of a trustee or fiduciary the City shall cooperate with the Developer 
in causing appropriate financing statements and continuation statements naming the Developer 
as pledgee of all such amounts from time to time on deposit in the fund to be duly filed and 
recorded in the appropriate State offices as required by and permitted under the provisions of the 
Maine Uniform Commercial Code or other similar law as adopted in the State of Maine and any 
other applicable jurisdiction, as from time to time amended, in order to perfect and maintain the 
security interests created hereunder. 

(b) If the establishment of a segregated fund in accordance with this Section 4.2, 
becomes reasonably necessary to satisfy the requirements of this Agreement, the City’s 
responsibility shall be limited to delivering the amounts required by this Agreement to the 
escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary designated by the Developer.  The City shall have no 
liability for payment over of the funds concerned to the Developer by any such escrow agent, 
trustee or other fiduciary, or for any misappropriation, investment losses or other losses in the 
hands of such escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary.  Notwithstanding any change in the 
identity of the Developer’s designated escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary, the City shall 
have no liability for misdelivery of funds if delivered in accordance with Developer’s most 
recent written designation or instructions actually received by the City. 

Section 4.3.  Further Instruments. 

The City shall, upon the reasonable request of the Developer, from time to time execute 
and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and as 
may be required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such 
instruments or actions shall pledge the credit of the City, and provided further that the cost of 
executing and delivering such further instruments (including the reasonable and related costs of 
counsel to the Town with respect thereto) shall be borne exclusively by the Developer.   

Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund. 

Except as permitted hereunder, the City shall not sell, lease, pledge, assign or otherwise 
dispose, encumber or hypothecate any interest in the Development Program Fund and will 
promptly pay or cause to be discharged or make adequate provision to discharge any lien, charge 
or encumbrance on any part thereof not permitted hereby. 

Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. 

All non-confidential books, records and documents in the possession of the City relating 
to the District, the Development Program, this Agreement and the monies, revenues and receipts 
on deposit or required to be deposited into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount 
shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by the Developer, its agents and employees.  



 

12 
13712423.3 

ARTICLE V 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
Section 5.1.  Events of Default. 

Each of the following events shall constitute and be referred to in this Agreement as an 
“Event of Default”: 

(a) Any failure by the City to pay any amounts due to Developer when the same shall 
become due and payable; 

(b) Any failure by the City to deposit into the Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost 
Subaccount of the Development Program Fund on a timely basis, funds the City receives from 
the Developer that the City is required under this Agreement to deposit into the Development 
Program Fund; 

(c) Any failure by the City or the Developer to observe and perform in all material 
respects any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained herein on the part of the City 
or Developer to be observed or performed, which failure is not cured within thirty (30) days 
following written notice thereof;  

(d) Any failure by the Developer to pay when due, any real or personal property taxes 
lawfully assessed by the City to Developer; and 

(e) If a decree or order of a court or agency or supervisory authority having 
jurisdiction in the premises of the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator of, any 
insolvency, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings, or 
for the winding up or liquidation of the Developer’s affairs shall have been entered against the 
Developer or the Developer shall have consented to the appointment of a conservator or receiver 
or liquidator in any such proceedings of or relating to the Developer or of or relating to all or 
substantially all of its property, including without limitation the filing of a voluntary petition in 
bankruptcy by the Developer or the failure by the Developer to have an involuntary petition in 
bankruptcy dismissed within a period of ninety (90) consecutive days following its filing or in 
the event an order for release has been entered under the Bankruptcy Code with respect to the 
Developer;  

(f)   Developer’s failure to commence construction of Developer’s Project by July 1, 
2020 or the termination of manufacturing activities at Developer Property after Developer’s 
Project is completed. 

Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. 

Subject to the provisions contained in Section 8.11 below concerning dispute resolution, 
whenever any Event of Default described in Section 5.1 hereof shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the nondefaulting party, following the expiration of any applicable cure period, shall 
have all rights and remedies available to it at law or in equity, including the rights and remedies 
available to a secured party under the laws of the State of Maine, and may take whatever action 



 

13 
13712423.3 

as may be necessary or desirable to collect the amount then due and thereafter to become due, to 
specifically enforce the performance or observance of any obligations, agreements or covenants 
of the nondefaulting party under this Agreement and any documents, instruments and agreements 
contemplated hereby or to enforce any rights or remedies available hereunder. Further, the non-
defaulting party may elect to terminate this Agreement upon 30 days’ written notice to the 
defaulting party provided the Event of Default is not cured within such 30 day period. 

Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. 

Subject to the provisions of Section 8.11 below concerning dispute resolution, no remedy 
herein conferred upon or reserved to any party is intended to be exclusive of any other available 
remedy or remedies but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 
to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity 
or by statute.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to excuse any non-payment of 
municipal taxes by Developer, or to limit in any way, the City’s rights and remedies in that 
event. In the event the Developer pays some, but not all, taxes that are due, the portion paid will 
be allocated first to any delinquent taxes; second (to the extent of funds remaining) to taxes due 
on the original assessed value of the property; third (to the extent of funds remaining) to any 
delinquent taxes on increased assessed value from prior tax years; and last (to the extent of funds 
remaining) to payment of the Developer’s share of the tax increment revenues. Delay or 
omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Events of Default to insist upon the 
strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements herein set forth or to exercise any 
rights or remedies upon the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not impair any such right or 
power or be considered or taken as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of the right to insist 
upon and to enforce, from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient, by injunction 
or other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, strict compliance by the parties hereto with all of 
the covenants and conditions hereof, or of the rights to exercise any such rights or remedies, if 
such Events of Default be continued or repeated. 

 

ARTICLE VI 
EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION 

 
Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. 

This Agreement shall remain in full force from the Effective Date hereof and shall expire 
upon the later of the expiration of the Term or the payment of all amounts due to the Developer 
hereunder as of expiration of the Term and the performance of all obligations on the part of the 
City hereunder, unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 3.4 or any other applicable 
provision of this Agreement.  

Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. 

At the acceleration, termination or other expiration of this Agreement in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement, the City and the Developer shall each execute and deliver such 
documents and take or cause to be taken such actions as may be necessary to evidence the 
termination of this Agreement. 



 

14 
13712423.3 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPERS INTEREST  

 
Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. 

The City hereby acknowledges that the Developer may assign its rights hereunder to a 
successor owner of the Developer Project and may also from time to time pledge and assign its 
right, title and interest in, to and under this Agreement as collateral for financing for the 
Developer Project, although no obligation is hereby imposed on the Developer to make such 
assignment or pledge.  Recognizing this possibility, the City hereby consents and agrees to the 
pledge and assignment of all the Developer's right, title and interest in, to and under this 
Agreement and in, and to the payments to be made to Developer hereunder, to third parties as 
collateral or security for financing the Development Program, on one or more occasions during 
the term hereof.  The City agrees to execute and deliver any assignments, pledge agreements, 
consents or other confirmations required by such prospective pledgee or assignee, including 
without limitation recognition of the pledgee or assignee as the holder of all right, title and 
interest herein and as the payee of amounts due and payable hereunder.  The City agrees to 
execute and deliver any other documentation as shall confirm to such pledgee or assignee the 
position of such assignee or pledgee and the irrevocable and binding nature of this Agreement 
and provide to such pledgee or assignee such rights and/or remedies as the Developer or such 
pledgee or assignee may reasonably deem necessary for the establishment, perfection and 
protection of its interest herein. Any obligation of the City under this section shall be conditioned 
upon pledgee or assignee’s or Developer’s satisfaction of Developer’s obligations under this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City shall not be obligated to make payment to 
any such assignee or pledgee so long as there is any uncured default on the part of Company 
hereunder. Developer agrees that any payment by the City made in good faith to an assignee or 
pledgee hereunder shall, to the extent of such payment so made, discharge the City’s obligation 
to Developer hereunder. 

Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. 

Except as provided in Section 7.1 hereof for the purpose of securing financing for the 
Developer Project or an assignment to a successor entity or an affiliate entity, the Developer 
shall not transfer or assign any portion of its rights in, to and under this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of the City, through its City Council, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.     

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 8.1.  Successors. 

In the event of the dissolution, merger or consolidation of the City or the Developer, the 
covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements set forth herein, by or on behalf of or for the 
benefit of such party shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns thereof from 



 

15 
13712423.3 

time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to 
which any power or duty of such party shall be transferred. 

Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture. 

Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or 
implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, firm or corporation other 
than the City and the Developer any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this 
Agreement, it being intended that this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 
the City and the Developer. This Agreement is not intended to create any form of partnership or 
joint venture between the City and the Developer. 

Section 8.3.  Severability. 

In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held 
to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 
provision had not been contained herein. 

Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort 
Claims Act. 

No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the City contained herein shall be 
deemed to be a covenant, stipulation or obligation of any present or future elected or appointed 
official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in his or her individual capacity, and 
neither the City Councilors nor any official, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be liable 
personally with respect to this Agreement or be subject to any personal liability or accountability 
by reason hereof. Nothing contained herein is intended as a waiver of, and the City expressly 
reserves all protections and immunities under, the Maine Tort Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8101 
et seq. Developer agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any loss, including court 
costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in the event of litigation, incurred by the City as the result of 
the City’s participation in this Agreement or in the TIF Development Program that is the subject 
of this Agreement, other than costs and fees incurred in connection with a breach by City of its 
obligations hereunder.  

Section 8.5.  Counterparts. 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when so 
executed and delivered, shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but 
one and the same Agreement. 

Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits 

The laws of the State of Maine shall govern the construction and enforcement of this 
Agreement. 

Any suit to construe or enforce the provisions of this Agreement must be brought in the 
District or Superior Courts of York County, Maine; and otherwise shall be void.  Developer 



 

16 
13712423.3 

expressly waives any claim to jurisdiction of the United States District Court over disputes 
arising under this Agreement, whether on account of diversity of citizenship or federal subject 
matter. 

Section 8.7.  Notices. 

All notices, certificates, requests, requisitions or other communications by the City or the 
Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and shall 
be deemed given on the third business day after mailing by registered or certified first class mail, 
postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows: 

If to the City: 
 

City Administrator 
City of Saco 
300 Main St. 
Saco, ME 04072 
 

 With a copy to: 
 
  Director of Planning and Development 

City of Saco 
300 Main St. 
Saco, ME 04072 

   
If to the Developer: 
 Baxter & Cutts, LLC 
 22 Monument Square Suite 602 
 Portland, ME 04101 

 
With a copy to: 

Ryan FitzGerald 
51 Morning St. Apt. 4 

 Portland, ME 04101 
 

Either of the parties may, by notice given to the other, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be 
sent hereunder. 

Section 8.8.  Amendments. 

This Agreement may be amended only with the concurring written consent of both of the 
parties hereto. 



 

17 
13712423.3 

Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees. 

The City agrees that this Agreement is executed in part to induce assignees or pledgees to 
provide financing for the Developer Project and accordingly all covenants and agreements on the 
part of the City as to the amounts payable hereunder are hereby declared to be for the benefit of 
any such assignee or pledgee from time to time of the Developer's right, title and interest herein. 
No such assignment or pledge shall limit in any way, Developer’s obligations hereunder. 

Section 8.10.  Integration. 

This Agreement completely and fully supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous 
understandings or agreements, both written and oral, between the City and the Developer relating 
to the specific subject matter of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution. 

In the event of a dispute regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by it, 
the parties hereto will use all reasonable efforts to resolve the dispute on an amicable basis.  If 
the dispute is not resolved on that basis within sixty (60) days after one party first brings the 
dispute to the attention of the other party, then either party may file an appropriate action for 
legal or equitable relief. If the Developer defaults in any of its obligations under this Agreement, 
the City shall be entitled to recover from Developer its reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in 
enforcement of such obligations.  

 

Section 8.12. Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement.  

The parties acknowledge that all laws of the State now in effect or hereafter enacted with 
respect to taxation of property shall be applicable and that the City, by entering into this 
Agreement, is not excusing any non-payment of taxes by Developer.  Without limiting the 
foregoing, the City and the Developer shall always be entitled to exercise all rights and remedies 
regarding assessment, collection and payment of taxes assessed on Developer's property.  In 
addition, the Development Program makes certain assumptions and estimates regarding 
valuation, depreciation of assets, tax rates and estimated costs.  The City and the Developer 
hereby covenant and agree that the assumptions, estimates, analysis and results set forth in the 
Development Program shall in no way (a) constitute a contractual obligation or binding 
representation of either party as to such assumptions, estimates, analysis or results; (b) prejudice 
the rights of any party or be used, in any way, by any party in either presenting evidence or 
making argument in any dispute which may arise in connection with valuation of or abatement 
proceedings relating to Developer’s property for purposes of ad valorem property taxation or (c) 
vary the terms of this Agreement even if the actual results differ substantially from the estimates, 
assumptions or analysis. 

 



 

18 
13712423.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Developer have caused this Agreement to 
be executed in their respective corporate names and their respective corporate seals to be 
hereunto affixed and attested by the duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written. 
 
CITY OF SACO    BAXTER & CUTTS, LLC 
 
 
By:   _______________________  By: _______________________ 
Name:      Name: 
Its:      Its: 
Duly Authorized    Duly Authorized 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tax Year
Retained 

Percentage
2019 60%
2020 60%
2021 60%
2022 60%
2023 60%
2024 60%
2025 60%
2026 60%
2027 60%
2028 60%
2029 60%
2030 60%
2031 60%
2032 60%
2033 60%
2034 0%
2035 0%
2036 0%
2037 0%
2038 0%



 

 

TIF Year
Tax Year-

April 1

Increased 
Assessed Value 

Real Prop.

Captured 
Valuation @100% 
of Value Captured

Projected 
Mill Rate

Total Projected 
New Taxes 
Captured

Captured 
Revenue  to 

Municipal Project 
Account

Captured 
Revenue  to 

Developer Project 
Account

1 2019 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.01959 $19,587 $7,835 $11,752
2 2020 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.01980 $19,796 $7,918 $11,878
3 2021 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02001 $20,008 $8,003 $12,005
4 2022 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02022 $20,221 $8,089 $12,133
5 2023 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02044 $20,437 $8,175 $12,262
6 2024 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02066 $20,656 $8,262 $12,393
7 2025 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02088 $20,876 $8,350 $12,526
8 2026 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02110 $21,099 $8,440 $12,659
9 2027 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02132 $21,325 $8,530 $12,795
10 2028 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02155 $21,552 $8,621 $12,931
11 2029 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02178 $21,782 $8,713 $13,069
12 2030 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02202 $22,015 $8,806 $13,209
13 2031 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02225 $22,250 $8,900 $13,350
14 2032 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02249 $22,488 $8,995 $13,493
15 2033 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02273 $22,728 $9,091 $13,637
16 2034 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02297 $22,971 $22,971 $0
17 2035 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02322 $23,216 $23,216 $0
18 2036 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02346 $23,464 $23,464 $0
19 2037 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02371 $23,715 $23,715 $0
20 2038 $1,000,000 $1,000,000 0.02397 $23,968 $23,968 $0

$20,000,000 $20,000,000 $434,155 $244,062 $190,093

Captured Assessed Value &TIF Revenue Projection Table - City of Saco - Baxter & Cutts - TIF

20-Year Total
Prepared by Camoin Associates, www.camoinassociates.com



Page -   1 
 

Credit Enhancement Request for Foresite Realty 

DBA Biddeford Saco Dental Associates (BSDA) 

About Biddeford Saco Dental Associates 

BSDA is a General Dentistry practice currently located at 323 Main St Saco.  BSDA has been serving 
patients of Biddeford, Saco, and southern Maine for over a decade. The practice has been a staple of the 
community for a long time and boasts many long-term employees (20+ years).  

BSDA has grown substantially and now has more patients and staff than ever.   As a result, they have 
outgrown their current building in Saco and are seeking to relocate and develop a new facility.  More 
than just a relocation and development to fit current operations and future growth, BSDA is seeking to 
develop a facility to implement a new vision for the future.  This vision is best expressed by Dr. Jacob D. 
Roskelley, DMD of BSDA: 

“The vision I have for the practice is inspired by my early years in dentistry – specifically dental 
school and the US Navy. As a dental student, I worked directly with hundreds of colleagues at 
Tufts University. As I transitioned to the Navy as a dental officer, I worked in clinics with dozens 
of providers and staff. However, when I came into private practice, I realized that things became 
segregated. I now worked with only one or two additional providers and a myriad of procedures 
would have to be referred to other offices – often as far away as Portland. While the patients 
were still able to receive the care they needed, it was not convenient and lends itself to 
difficulties in coordinating care and communicating with specialists. Therefore, my long-term 
vision is to create a truly comprehensive dental office where all specialties and dental 
procedures can be provided under one roof. To my knowledge, this model does not currently 
exist in the State of Maine. We want to be the first.” 

Project Overview  

BSDA is seeking to develop its new facility at 485 Main St in Saco.   The new facility would be 15,000 sqf 
in total with 8,000 for BSDA’s practice and 7,000 for future expansion and/or lease space.  For assessing 
purposes, the property consists of Tax Map 33, Lot 7 and is valued in terms of total taxable value of real 
property (land and building) at $389,300 according to 2018 assessment records.  It consists of 1.47 acres 
of land an there is currently no building on site. 

BSDA’s total investment for the new site and facility is estimated at $7.5 million.  This includes land costs 
of $650k, soft costs of $300k, site improvements of $750k, building costs of $3M, FF&E costs of $1.25M 
and $1.5M for future development to finish the second floor and complete required site work that will 
accompany expansion.  Excluding personal property costs (FF&E) which are not included in TIF 
calculations the estimated new value of taxable real (land and building) property is $3.65 million making 
the total value of taxable real property at full build-out $4.039 million (current value plus added new 
value). 



Page -   2 
 

The project will enable BSDA to sustain is current 18 employees, add a projected 13 employees in the 
next few years, and then add another 15 employees at full build out over the next 10 years for an 
estimated total of 46 employees. 

The Economic and Fiscal Case for the Request 

The following economic and fiscal benefits will result from this proposed CEA agreement: 

• $7.5 million in new private investment with an estimated value of $3.65 million in new real 
property value generating new revenues 

• An estimated $2.75 million in personal property (equipment, fixtures, and furniture) 
• Retention of 18 employees, a projected addition of 13 employees in the next few years, a 

projection of another 15 employees at full build out over the next 10 years for an estimated 
total of 46 employees. 

• Continued growth in Saco as a location for health services with high paying jobs and diversified 
businesses  

• Economic spinoffs  
o By providing comprehensive care at their “dental home,” more patient will seek the care 

they need. Additionally, with increased capacity and modernization of the building, we 
will be bringing in technology not currently available in Saco such as Cone Beam CT (3D 
x-rays) 

o Increased Consumers and related spending– BSDA currently serve patients from 
multiple communities, but the majority come from in Biddeford-Saco. The attraction of 
a modern, comprehensive, easily accessible (right off I-95), will attract more patients. 
These patients from surrounding communities will support local businesses.  

• Site Improvements – This lot has been vacant for over a decade. It is an eyesore in one of the 
most heavily trafficked areas of Saco. The new building will bring instant beautification to this 
area. It will be designed to keep the classic New England architecture so prominent in the 
downtown. Additionally, the site will be designed to aid the city in achieving their ultimate goal 
of creating rear parking and rear access to alleviate the heavy traffic on route one. This will 
decrease traffic accidents and make the City safer and more accessible for all. BSDA will also 
rework curbing on Smith Lane for additional safety measures. 



13712423.3 

 
 

 

 

 

CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT 

between 

CITY OF SACO, MAINE 

and 

FORESITE REALTY, LLC 
 

DATED:  August 26, 2019 



13712423.3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .........................................................................................................4 
Section 1.1.  Definitions.......................................................................................................4 
Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. .....................................................................6 

ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS .7 
Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. .......................................................7 
Section 2.2.  Liens. ...............................................................................................................7 
Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; Cap 

on Tax Increment Revenues. ...........................................................................8 
Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. .............................................8 
Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. .............................................................8 

ARTICLE III PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS ...............................................................................9 
Section 3.1.  Developer Payments. ......................................................................................9 
Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. ...............................................................................9 
Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. ......................................................................................9 
Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional. .............................................................................9 
Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation. .......................................................................................10 

ARTICLE IV PLEDGE ..............................................................................................................10 
Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Biddeford Saco Dental 

Associates Project Cost SubaccountDevelopment Program Fund. ...............10 
Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest. ....................................................................................10 
Section 4.3.  Further Instruments. ......................................................................................11 
Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund. ..........................................11 
Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. ......................................................................11 

ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES ...........................................................................11 
Section 5.1.  Events of Default. .........................................................................................11 
Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. ....................................................................................12 
Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. ..................................................................................13 

ARTICLE VI EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION ......................................13 
Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. ..............................................................................13 
Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. ...........................................................13 

ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST ..............14 
Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. .........................................................14 
Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. ......................................................14 

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS .........................................................................................14 
Section 8.1.  Successors. ....................................................................................................14 
Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture. ....................................15 
Section 8.3.  Severability. ..................................................................................................15 



13712423.3 

Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort 
Claims Act. ...................................................................................................15 

Section 8.5.  Counterparts. .................................................................................................15 
Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits ..................................................................15 
Section 8.7.  Notices. .........................................................................................................16 
Section 8.8.  Amendments. ................................................................................................16 
Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees. .................................................................16 
Section 8.10.  Integration. ..................................................................................................17 
Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution. .....................................................................................17 
Section 8.12.Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement. ...........................................................17 

 



 

4 
13712423.3 

THIS CREDIT ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of 
August 26, 2019 by and between the City of Saco (the “City”), a municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Maine located in York County, Maine, and Foresite Realty, 
LLC (the “Developer”), a Maine limited liability company with an address of 485 Main Street, 
Saco, Maine 04074; 

WITNESSETH THAT 
 

WHEREAS, the City designated the Saco Downtown Omnibus Municipal Development 
and Tax Increment Financing District Municipal (the “District”), pursuant to Chapter 206 of 
Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, and approved a municipal development program and 
financial plan for the District (the “Development Program”) on February 21, 2017.  The District 
and Development Program were approved by the State of Maine Department of Economic and 
Community Development (the “Department”) on August 7, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, on February 19, 2019, the City approved the First Amendment to the 
District (the “First Amendment”) and such First Amendment was submitted to the Department 
on February 26, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the First Amendment was approved by the Department; and 

WHEREAS, the approved Development Program for the District provides that in the 
discretion of the City up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Tax Increment Revenues 
generated by new development within the District may be returned to the Developer during the 
remaining term of the District, pursuant to a credit enhancement agreement, for the purpose of 
defraying the Developer’s project costs; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer have agreed as to the portion of the Tax 
Increment Revenues associated with the Developer’s Project (as hereinafter defined) that will be 
returned to the Developer; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer desire and intend that this Credit Enhancement 
Agreement be and constitute the credit enhancement agreement contemplated by the 
Development Program; and 

WHEREAS, as required by Section 3.05 of the Development Program and the 
Department approval, the City held a public hearing on October (date), 2019 at which the 
provisions of this Credit Enhancement Agreement were approved; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and in consideration of 
the mutual promises and covenants set forth herein, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.1.  Definitions.   



 

5 
13712423.3 

The terms defined in this Article I shall, for all purposes of this Agreement, have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

“Act” means chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes and regulations 
adopted thereunder, as amended from time to time. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Credit Enhancement Agreement between the City and the 
Developer dated as set forth above, as it may be amended from time to time. 

“Captured Assessed Value” means the amount, stated as a percentage, of Increased 
Assessed Value that is retained in each Tax Year during the term of the District, as specified in 
section 2.3 hereof. 

 
“Commissioner” means the Commissioner of the Department of Economic and 

Community Development. 

 “Current Assessed Value” means the then-current assessed value of all taxable real 
property constituting Developer’s Project within the Developer Property as determined by the 
City’s Assessor as of April 1st of each Tax Year during the term of this Agreement. 
 

“Department” shall have the meaning given such term in the recitals hereto. 

“Developer” shall have the meaning given such term in the first paragraph hereto. 

“Developer Project” means the health services facility and related site improvements to 
be constructed by Developer at Developer Property and originally consisting of a facility of 
approximately 15,000, square feet and any addition thereto during the Term.  

“Developer Property” means the property identified as 485 Main Street (City Tax Map as 
Map 33, Lot 007). 

“Developer Tax Increment Revenues” means that portion of all real property taxes 
assessed by and paid to the City in any Tax Year, in excess of any special assessment by City or 
any State or special district tax, upon the Captured Assessed Value, allocated and pledged to the 
Developer pursuant to Articles II and III of this Agreement, to support the Developer Project on 
the Developer Property.     

“Development Program” shall have the meaning given such term in the recitals hereto. 

“Development Program Fund” means the Municipal TIF Development Program Fund 
described in section IV(D) of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant 
to Article II hereof and 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A).  The Development Program Fund shall 
consist of a Project Cost Account with at least one subaccount: the Foresite Realty, LLC Project 
Cost Subaccount. 

“District” shall have the meaning given such term in the first recital hereto. 

“Effective Date” shall mean the date of execution of this Agreement. 



 

6 
13712423.3 

“Financial Plan” means the financial plan described in section IV of the Development 
Program. 

“Fiscal Year” means July 1st to June 30th of the subsequent calendar year or such other 
fiscal year as the City may from time to time establish. 

“Increased Assessed Value” means, for each Fiscal Year during the term of this 
Agreement, the amount by which the Current Assessed Value for such year exceeds the Original 
Assessed Value.  If the Current Assessed Value is less than or equal to the Original Assessed 
Value in any given Tax Year, there is no Increased Assessed Value in that Tax Year. 

“Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount” means the subaccount within the 
Development Program Fund in which the Developer Tax Increment Revenues shall be deposited. 

“Original Assessed Value” means zero dollars ($389,300), the taxable assessed value of 
the Developer Property as of March 31, 2019 (April 1, 2018). 

“Project Cost Account” means the project cost account described in the Financial Plan 
Section of the Development Program and established and maintained pursuant to Title 30-A 
M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A)(1) and Article II hereof. 

“Property Tax” means any and all ad valorem property taxes levied, charged or assessed 
against real property located in the District by the City, or on its behalf. 

“State” means the State of Maine. 

“Tax Increment Revenue Cap” shall have the meaning given to such term in Section 2.3. 

“Tax Payment Date” means the later of the date(s) on which Property Taxes levied by the 
City on real and personal property located in the District are (a) due and payable, or (b) are 
actually paid by or on behalf of the Developer to, and received by, the City. 

“Tax Year” shall have the meaning given such term in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5222(18), as 
amended, to wit:  April 1st to March 31st. 

“Term” shall mean all Tax Years in the period beginning from April 1, 2019-March 31, 
2020 through April 1, 2032-March 31, 2033, but not beginning before the Effective Date.  

“City” shall have the meaning given such term in the first paragraph hereto. 

Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction. 

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder” and any similar 
terms, as used in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement, and the term “hereafter” means after, 
and the term “heretofore” means before, the date of delivery of this Agreement. 



 

7 
13712423.3 

(b) Words importing a particular gender mean and include correlative words of every 
other gender and words importing the singular number mean and include the plural number and 
vice versa. 

(c) Words importing persons mean and include firms, associations, partnerships 
(including limited partnerships), trusts, corporations and other legal entities, including public or 
governmental bodies, as well as any natural persons. 

(d) Any headings preceding the texts of the several Articles and sections of this 
Agreement, and any table of contents or marginal notes appended to copies hereof, shall be 
solely for convenience of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement, nor shall 
they affect its meaning, construction or effect. 

(e) All approvals, consents and acceptances required to be given or made by any 
signatory hereto shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

(f) All notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing and, unless a certain 
number of days is specified, within a reasonable time. 

(g) If any clause, provision or section of this Agreement shall be ruled invalid by any 
court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause, provision or section shall not affect 
any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

ARTICLE II 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS 

 
Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund. 

The City has created and established a segregated fund in the name of the City designated 
as the “Saco Downtown Omnibus Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing 
District” (hereinafter the “Development Program Fund”) to be funded by tax payments actually 
made by properties located within the District, and in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of, the Development Program and 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(A).  The Development Program 
Fund is pledged to and charged with the payment of project costs as outlined in the Financial 
Plan of the Development Program and as provided in 30-A M.R.S.A.§ 5227(3)(A)(1), in the 
manner and priority provided in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5227(3)(B), and as set forth in Section 3.1(b) 
below. 

 
Section 2.2.  Liens. 

The City shall not create any liens, encumbrances or other interests of any nature 
whatsoever, nor shall it hypothecate the Development Program Fund described in section 2.1 
hereof or any funds therein, other than the interest in favor of the Developer hereunder in and to 
the amounts on deposit; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit the creation of 
property tax liens on property in the District in accordance with and entitled to priority pursuant 
to Maine law. 



 

8 
13712423.3 

Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; 
Cap on Tax Increment Revenues.  

(a) For each Tax Year of the Term, the City shall retain in the District, for purposes of 
depositing Property Taxes associated therewith, the percentage of the Increased Assessed Value 
determined in accordance with the following table:  

 

Tax Year Retained 
Percentage

2019 50%
2020 50%
2021 50%
2022 50%
2023 50%
2024 45%
2025 45%
2026 45%
2027 45%
2028 45%
2029 25%
2030 25%
2031 0%
2032 0%  

 
 

(b) In each of said Tax Years, the City shall deposit into the Foreside Realty, LLC 
Project Cost Subaccount of the Development Program Fund, within five (5) business days of 
each Tax Payment Date, that portion of the tax payment made by Developer as represents 
Developer Tax Increment Revenues. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.3, no deposits shall be 
made to the Foreside Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount to the extent such deposits would 
cause the aggregate amount of deposits to such Fund to exceed the Tax Increment Revenue Cap 
(as hereinafter defined). For purposes of this Agreement, the “Tax Increment Revenue Cap” 
means an amount initially equal to $396,000.  

Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund. 

All monies in the Development Program Fund shall in all cases be used and applied to 
fund fully the City's payment obligations to Developer described in Articles II and III hereof.    

Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account. 

All monies paid into the Foreside Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount under the 
provisions hereof and the provisions of the Development Program shall be held by the City for 
the benefit of the Developer in a segregated account. The City shall never be under any 
obligation to deposit into the Foreside Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount, any funds other 



 

9 
13712423.3 

than Developer Tax Increment Revenues received by the City from Developer, the City’s 
obligations under this Agreement extending only to funds that are Developer Tax Increment 
Revenues actually paid by Developer to the City. Interest earnings thereon shall be retained by 
the City for the City’s own use. 

ARTICLE III 
PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 

 
Section 3.1.  Developer Payments.    

(a) The City agrees to pay Developer, within thirty (30) days following each Tax 
Payment Date during the Term, all amounts then on deposit in the Foresite Realty, LLC  Project 
Cost Subaccount; provided, however, the City shall have no obligation to make payment while 
any mechanics’ liens shall be encumbering the Developer Property for a period of more than 
thirty (30) days. Upon the discharge or other termination of any such mechanics’ liens, the City 
shall pay any amounts previously withheld on account thereof. 

(b)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if, with respect to any 
Tax Payment Date, any portion of the Property Taxes assessed against real property within the 
Developer Property for the Tax Year concerned remains unpaid, because of a valuation dispute 
or otherwise, the Property Taxes actually paid with respect to that Tax Year shall be applied, 
first, to payment in full of taxes due in respect of the Original Assessed Value; and second, to the 
extent of funds remaining, to payment of the Developer Tax Increment Revenues for the Tax 
Year concerned.     

Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment. 

If the City should fail or be unable to make any of the payments at the time and in the 
amount required under the foregoing provisions of this Article III; or if the amount deposited 
into the Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount is insufficient to reimburse the Developer 
for the full amount Developer has actually paid in taxes, the amount or installment so unpaid 
shall continue as a limited obligation of the City, under the terms and conditions hereinafter set 
forth, until the amount unpaid shall have been fully paid.  The Developer shall have the right to 
initiate and maintain an action to specifically enforce the City’s payment obligations hereunder. 

Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments. 

The payments provided for in this Article III shall be paid directly to the Developer at the 
address specified in Section 8.7 hereof in the manner provided hereinabove, for the Developer’s 
own use and benefit so long as such use is consistent with the requirements of the Act, by check 
drawn by the City on the Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount of the Development 
Program Fund. 

Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional. 

Subject to Developer’s compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the 
Obligations of the City to make the payments described in this Agreement in accordance with the 
terms hereof shall be absolute and unconditional, and the City shall not suspend or discontinue 



 

10 
13712423.3 

any payment hereunder or terminate this Agreement for any cause, other than by court order or 
by reason of a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that the District is invalid or 
otherwise illegal. 

Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation. 

 The City’s obligations of payment hereunder shall be limited obligations of the City 
payable solely from Developer Tax Increment Revenues pledged therefor under this Agreement 
and actually received by the City from or on behalf of the Developer.  The City’s obligations 
hereunder shall not constitute a general debt or a general obligation or charge against or pledge of 
the faith and credit or taxing power of the City, the State of Maine, or of any municipality or 
political subdivision thereof, but shall be payable solely from that portion of Tax Increment 
Revenues actually deposited by City from taxes paid by Developer into the Foresite Realty, LLC  
Project Cost Subaccount of the Development Program Fund and payable to Developer hereunder.  
This Agreement shall not directly, indirectly or contingently obligate the City, the State of Maine, 
or any other City or political subdivision to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever 
therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment, excepting the City’s obligation to levy 
property taxes upon the Developer Project and the pledge established under this Agreement of the 
Developer Tax Increment Revenues received by the City from Developer. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
PLEDGE 

 
Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Biddeford Saco Dental 
Associates Project Cost Subaccount Development Program Fund. 

In consideration of this Agreement and other valuable consideration and for the purpose 
of securing payment of the amounts provided for hereunder to the Developer by the City, 
according to the terms and conditions contained herein, and in order to secure the performance 
and observance of all of the City’s covenants and agreements contained herein, and subject to 
section 2.3(c) above, the City hereby grants a security interest in and pledges to the Developer 
the Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount as defined herein and addressed further in 
Section 2.1 hereof and all sums of money and other securities and investments therein.   

Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest. 

(a) To the extent reasonably necessary to satisfy the requirements of this Agreement, 
the City will at such time and from time to time as requested by Developer establish the Foresite 
Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount as defined herein and addressed further in Section 2.1 
hereof as a segregated fund under the control of an escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary 
selected by Developer so as to perfect Developer's interest therein.  The cost of establishing and 
monitoring such a fund shall be borne exclusively by the Developer.  In the event such a fund is 
established under the control of a trustee or fiduciary the City shall cooperate with the Developer 
in causing appropriate financing statements and continuation statements naming the Developer 
as pledgee of all such amounts from time to time on deposit in the fund to be duly filed and 
recorded in the appropriate State offices as required by and permitted under the provisions of the 



 

11 
13712423.3 

Maine Uniform Commercial Code or other similar law as adopted in the State of Maine and any 
other applicable jurisdiction, as from time to time amended, in order to perfect and maintain the 
security interests created hereunder. 

(b) If the establishment of a segregated fund in accordance with this Section 4.2, 
becomes reasonably necessary to satisfy the requirements of this Agreement, the City’s 
responsibility shall be limited to delivering the amounts required by this Agreement to the 
escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary designated by the Developer.  The City shall have no 
liability for payment over of the funds concerned to the Developer by any such escrow agent, 
trustee or other fiduciary, or for any misappropriation, investment losses or other losses in the 
hands of such escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary.  Notwithstanding any change in the 
identity of the Developer’s designated escrow agent, trustee or other fiduciary, the City shall 
have no liability for misdelivery of funds if delivered in accordance with Developer’s most 
recent written designation or instructions actually received by the City. 

Section 4.3.  Further Instruments. 

The City shall, upon the reasonable request of the Developer, from time to time execute 
and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and as 
may be required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that no such 
instruments or actions shall pledge the credit of the City, and provided further that the cost of 
executing and delivering such further instruments (including the reasonable and related costs of 
counsel to the Town with respect thereto) shall be borne exclusively by the Developer.   

Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund. 

Except as permitted hereunder, the City shall not sell, lease, pledge, assign or otherwise 
dispose, encumber or hypothecate any interest in the Development Program Fund and will 
promptly pay or cause to be discharged or make adequate provision to discharge any lien, charge 
or encumbrance on any part thereof not permitted hereby. 

Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records. 

All non-confidential books, records and documents in the possession of the City relating 
to the District, the Development Program, this Agreement and the monies, revenues and receipts 
on deposit or required to be deposited into the Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost Subaccount 
shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by the Developer, its agents and employees.  

ARTICLE V 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
Section 5.1.  Events of Default. 

Each of the following events shall constitute and be referred to in this Agreement as an 
“Event of Default”: 



 

12 
13712423.3 

(a) Any failure by the City to pay any amounts due to Developer when the same shall 
become due and payable; 

(b) Any failure by the City to deposit into the Foresite Realty, LLC Project Cost 
Subaccount of the Development Program Fund on a timely basis, funds the City receives from 
the Developer that the City is required under this Agreement to deposit into the Development 
Program Fund; 

(c) Any failure by the City or the Developer to observe and perform in all material 
respects any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained herein on the part of the City 
or Developer to be observed or performed, which failure is not cured within thirty (30) days 
following written notice thereof;  

(d) Any failure by the Developer to pay when due, any real or personal property taxes 
lawfully assessed by the City to Developer; and 

(e) If a decree or order of a court or agency or supervisory authority having 
jurisdiction in the premises of the appointment of a conservator or receiver or liquidator of, any 
insolvency, readjustment of debt, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar proceedings, or 
for the winding up or liquidation of the Developer’s affairs shall have been entered against the 
Developer or the Developer shall have consented to the appointment of a conservator or receiver 
or liquidator in any such proceedings of or relating to the Developer or of or relating to all or 
substantially all of its property, including without limitation the filing of a voluntary petition in 
bankruptcy by the Developer or the failure by the Developer to have an involuntary petition in 
bankruptcy dismissed within a period of ninety (90) consecutive days following its filing or in 
the event an order for release has been entered under the Bankruptcy Code with respect to the 
Developer;  

(f)   Developer’s failure to commence construction of Developer’s Project by July 1, 
2020 or the termination of manufacturing activities at Developer Property after Developer’s 
Project is completed. 

Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default. 

Subject to the provisions contained in Section 8.11 below concerning dispute resolution, 
whenever any Event of Default described in Section 5.1 hereof shall have occurred and be 
continuing, the nondefaulting party, following the expiration of any applicable cure period, shall 
have all rights and remedies available to it at law or in equity, including the rights and remedies 
available to a secured party under the laws of the State of Maine, and may take whatever action 
as may be necessary or desirable to collect the amount then due and thereafter to become due, to 
specifically enforce the performance or observance of any obligations, agreements or covenants 
of the nondefaulting party under this Agreement and any documents, instruments and agreements 
contemplated hereby or to enforce any rights or remedies available hereunder. Further, the non-
defaulting party may elect to terminate this Agreement upon 30 days’ written notice to the 
defaulting party provided the Event of Default is not cured within such 30 day period. 



 

13 
13712423.3 

Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative. 

Subject to the provisions of Section 8.11 below concerning dispute resolution, no remedy 
herein conferred upon or reserved to any party is intended to be exclusive of any other available 
remedy or remedies but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 
to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity 
or by statute.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to excuse any non-payment of 
municipal taxes by Developer, or to limit in any way, the City’s rights and remedies in that 
event. In the event the Developer pays some, but not all, taxes that are due, the portion paid will 
be allocated first to any delinquent taxes; second (to the extent of funds remaining) to taxes due 
on the original assessed value of the property; third (to the extent of funds remaining) to any 
delinquent taxes on increased assessed value from prior tax years; and last (to the extent of funds 
remaining) to payment of the Developer’s share of the tax increment revenues. Delay or 
omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Events of Default to insist upon the 
strict performance of any of the covenants and agreements herein set forth or to exercise any 
rights or remedies upon the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not impair any such right or 
power or be considered or taken as a waiver or relinquishment for the future of the right to insist 
upon and to enforce, from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient, by injunction 
or other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, strict compliance by the parties hereto with all of 
the covenants and conditions hereof, or of the rights to exercise any such rights or remedies, if 
such Events of Default be continued or repeated. 

 

ARTICLE VI 
EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION 

 
Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term. 

This Agreement shall remain in full force from the Effective Date hereof and shall expire 
upon the later of the expiration of the Term or the payment of all amounts due to the Developer 
hereunder as of expiration of the Term and the performance of all obligations on the part of the 
City hereunder, unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 3.4 or any other applicable 
provision of this Agreement.  

Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term. 

At the acceleration, termination or other expiration of this Agreement in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement, the City and the Developer shall each execute and deliver such 
documents and take or cause to be taken such actions as may be necessary to evidence the 
termination of this Agreement. 



 

14 
13712423.3 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST 

 
Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment. 

The City hereby acknowledges that the Developer may assign its rights hereunder to a 
successor owner of the Developer Project and may also from time to time pledge and assign its 
right, title and interest in, to and under this Agreement as collateral for financing for the 
Developer Project, although no obligation is hereby imposed on the Developer to make such 
assignment or pledge.  Recognizing this possibility, the City hereby consents and agrees to the 
pledge and assignment of all the Developer's right, title and interest in, to and under this 
Agreement and in, and to the payments to be made to Developer hereunder, to third parties as 
collateral or security for financing the Development Program, on one or more occasions during 
the term hereof.  The City agrees to execute and deliver any assignments, pledge agreements, 
consents or other confirmations required by such prospective pledgee or assignee, including 
without limitation recognition of the pledgee or assignee as the holder of all right, title and 
interest herein and as the payee of amounts due and payable hereunder.  The City agrees to 
execute and deliver any other documentation as shall confirm to such pledgee or assignee the 
position of such assignee or pledgee and the irrevocable and binding nature of this Agreement 
and provide to such pledgee or assignee such rights and/or remedies as the Developer or such 
pledgee or assignee may reasonably deem necessary for the establishment, perfection and 
protection of its interest herein. Any obligation of the City under this section shall be conditioned 
upon pledgee or assignee’s or Developer’s satisfaction of Developer’s obligations under this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City shall not be obligated to make payment to 
any such assignee or pledgee so long as there is any uncured default on the part of Company 
hereunder. Developer agrees that any payment by the City made in good faith to an assignee or 
pledgee hereunder shall, to the extent of such payment so made, discharge the City’s obligation 
to Developer hereunder. 

Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest. 

Except as provided in Section 7.1 hereof for the purpose of securing financing for the 
Developer Project or an assignment to a successor entity or an affiliate entity, the Developer 
shall not transfer or assign any portion of its rights in, to and under this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of the City, through its City Council, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld.     

ARTICLE VIII 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 8.1.  Successors. 

In the event of the dissolution, merger or consolidation of the City or the Developer, the 
covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements set forth herein, by or on behalf of or for the 
benefit of such party shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns thereof from 



 

15 
13712423.3 

time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to 
which any power or duty of such party shall be transferred. 

Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture. 

Except as herein otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or 
implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, firm or corporation other 
than the City and the Developer any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this 
Agreement, it being intended that this Agreement shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 
the City and the Developer. This Agreement is not intended to create any form of partnership or 
joint venture between the City and the Developer. 

Section 8.3.  Severability. 

In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for any reason, be held 
to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 
provision had not been contained herein. 

Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort 
Claims Act. 

No covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement of the City contained herein shall be 
deemed to be a covenant, stipulation or obligation of any present or future elected or appointed 
official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in his or her individual capacity, and 
neither the City Councilors nor any official, officer, employee or agent of the City shall be liable 
personally with respect to this Agreement or be subject to any personal liability or accountability 
by reason hereof. Nothing contained herein is intended as a waiver of, and the City expressly 
reserves all protections and immunities under, the Maine Tort Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8101 
et seq. Developer agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless from any loss, including court 
costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in the event of litigation, incurred by the City as the result of 
the City’s participation in this Agreement or in the TIF Development Program that is the subject 
of this Agreement, other than costs and fees incurred in connection with a breach by City of its 
obligations hereunder.  

Section 8.5.  Counterparts. 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when so 
executed and delivered, shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but 
one and the same Agreement. 

Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits 

The laws of the State of Maine shall govern the construction and enforcement of this 
Agreement. 

Any suit to construe or enforce the provisions of this Agreement must be brought in the 
District or Superior Courts of York County, Maine; and otherwise shall be void.  Developer 



 

16 
13712423.3 

expressly waives any claim to jurisdiction of the United States District Court over disputes 
arising under this Agreement, whether on account of diversity of citizenship or federal subject 
matter. 

Section 8.7.  Notices. 

All notices, certificates, requests, requisitions or other communications by the City or the 
Developer pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and shall 
be deemed given on the third business day after mailing by registered or certified first class mail, 
postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows: 

If to the City: 
 

City Administrator 
City of Saco 
300 Main St. 
Saco, ME 04072 
 

 With a copy to: 
 
  Director of Planning and Development 

City of Saco 
300 Main St. 
Saco, ME 04072 

   
If to the Developer: 
  Foresite Realty, LLC 
 485 Main Street  

Saco, ME 04072 
 

With a copy to: 
 

Either of the parties may, by notice given to the other, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be 
sent hereunder. 

Section 8.8.  Amendments. 

This Agreement may be amended only with the concurring written consent of both of the 
parties hereto. 

Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees. 

The City agrees that this Agreement is executed in part to induce assignees or pledgees to 
provide financing for the Developer Project and accordingly all covenants and agreements on the 
part of the City as to the amounts payable hereunder are hereby declared to be for the benefit of 



 

17 
13712423.3 

any such assignee or pledgee from time to time of the Developer's right, title and interest herein. 
No such assignment or pledge shall limit in any way, Developer’s obligations hereunder. 

Section 8.10.  Integration. 

This Agreement completely and fully supersedes all other prior or contemporaneous 
understandings or agreements, both written and oral, between the City and the Developer relating 
to the specific subject matter of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution. 

In the event of a dispute regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by it, 
the parties hereto will use all reasonable efforts to resolve the dispute on an amicable basis.  If 
the dispute is not resolved on that basis within sixty (60) days after one party first brings the 
dispute to the attention of the other party, then either party may file an appropriate action for 
legal or equitable relief. If the Developer defaults in any of its obligations under this Agreement, 
the City shall be entitled to recover from Developer its reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in 
enforcement of such obligations.  

 

Section 8.12. Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement.  

The parties acknowledge that all laws of the State now in effect or hereafter enacted with 
respect to taxation of property shall be applicable and that the City, by entering into this 
Agreement, is not excusing any non-payment of taxes by Developer.  Without limiting the 
foregoing, the City and the Developer shall always be entitled to exercise all rights and remedies 
regarding assessment, collection and payment of taxes assessed on Developer's property.  In 
addition, the Development Program makes certain assumptions and estimates regarding 
valuation, depreciation of assets, tax rates and estimated costs.  The City and the Developer 
hereby covenant and agree that the assumptions, estimates, analysis and results set forth in the 
Development Program shall in no way (a) constitute a contractual obligation or binding 
representation of either party as to such assumptions, estimates, analysis or results; (b) prejudice 
the rights of any party or be used, in any way, by any party in either presenting evidence or 
making argument in any dispute which may arise in connection with valuation of or abatement 
proceedings relating to Developer’s property for purposes of ad valorem property taxation or (c) 
vary the terms of this Agreement even if the actual results differ substantially from the estimates, 
assumptions or analysis. 

 



 

18 
13712423.3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Developer have caused this Agreement to 
be executed in their respective corporate names and their respective corporate seals to be 
hereunto affixed and attested by the duly authorized officers, all as of the date first above written. 
 
CITY OF SACO           
 FORESITE REALTY, LLC 
 
 
By:   _______________________  By: _______________________ 
Name:      Name: 
Its:      Its: 
Duly Authorized    Duly Authorized 



 

 

 

 

 

 

TIF Year
Tax Year-

April 1

Increased 
Assessed Value 

Real Prop.

Captured 
Valuation @100% 
of Value Captured

Projected 
Mill Rate

Total Projected 
New Taxes 
Captured

Captured 
Revenue  to 

Developer Project 
Account

Captured 
Revenue  to 

Municipal Project 
Account

1 2019 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.01959 $71,493 $35,746 $35,746
2 2020 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.01980 $72,256 $36,128 $36,128
3 2021 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02001 $73,028 $36,514 $36,514
4 2022 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02022 $73,808 $36,904 $36,904
5 2023 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02044 $74,596 $37,298 $37,298
6 2024 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02066 $75,393 $33,927 $41,466
7 2025 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02088 $76,198 $34,289 $41,909
8 2026 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02110 $77,012 $34,655 $42,357
9 2027 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02132 $77,834 $35,026 $42,809
10 2028 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02155 $78,666 $35,400 $43,266
11 2029 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02178 $79,506 $19,876 $59,629
12 2030 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02202 $80,355 $20,089 $60,266
13 2031 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02225 $81,213 $0 $81,213
14 2032 $3,650,000 $3,650,000 0.02249 $82,081 $0 $82,081

$51,100,000 $51,100,000 $1,073,439 $395,852 $677,587
Percent of Total 37% 63%

Financials based on 50% of new revenues returned to developer in years 1-5; 45% in years 6-10; 25% in years 11 & 12; 
and 0% in years 13 & 14

Captured Assessed Value &TIF Revenue Projection Table - City of Saco - Foresite Realty - 
TIF Model

14-Year TIF Total

Prepared by Camoin Associates, www.camoinassociates.com


	EDC_Agenda_2019_0909 (1)
	EDC_Meeting Minutes_2019_0812
	CEA_Cutts.Quince_overview
	CEA_BaxterCutts.QuinceLLC_2019_0829_draft1
	ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.1.  Definitions.
	Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction.

	ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS
	Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund.
	Section 2.2.  Liens.
	Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; Cap on Tax Increment Revenues.
	Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund.
	Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account.

	ARTICLE III PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
	Section 3.1.  Developer Payments.
	Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment.
	Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments.
	Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional.
	Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation.

	ARTICLE IV PLEDGE
	Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Baxter & Cutts, LLC Project Cost Subaccount Development Program Fund.
	Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest.
	Section 4.3.  Further Instruments.
	Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund.
	Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records.

	ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
	Section 5.1.  Events of Default.
	Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default.
	Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative.

	ARTICLE VI EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION
	Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term.
	Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term.

	ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST
	Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment.
	Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest.

	ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 8.1.  Successors.
	Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture.
	Section 8.3.  Severability.
	Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort Claims Act.
	Section 8.5.  Counterparts.
	Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits
	Section 8.7.  Notices.
	Section 8.8.  Amendments.
	Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees.
	Section 8.10.  Integration.
	Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution.
	Section 8.12. Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement.


	CEA_Cutts.Quince_projections
	CEA_ForesiteRealty.SBDA_overview
	CEA_ForesiteRealtyLLC.SBDA_2019_0827_draft
	ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.1.  Definitions.
	Section 1.2.  Interpretation and Construction.

	ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FUND AND FUNDING REQUIREMENTS
	Section 2.1.  Creation of Development Program Fund.
	Section 2.2.  Liens.
	Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; Cap on Tax Increment Revenues.
	Section 2.3.  Captured Assessed Value; Deposits into Development Program Fund; Cap on Tax Increment Revenues.
	Section 2.4.  Use of Monies in Development Program Fund.
	Section 2.5.  Monies Held in Segregated Account.

	ARTICLE III PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
	Section 3.1.  Developer Payments.
	Section 3.2.  Failure to Make Payment.
	Section 3.3.  Manner of Payments.
	Section 3.4.  Obligations Unconditional.
	Section 3.5.  Limited Obligation.

	ARTICLE IV PLEDGE
	Section 4.1.  Pledge of and Grant of Security Interest in Biddeford Saco Dental Associates Project Cost Subaccount Development Program Fund.
	Section 4.2.  Perfection of Interest.
	Section 4.3.  Further Instruments.
	Section 4.4.  No Disposition of Development Program Fund.
	Section 4.5.  Access to Books and Records.

	ARTICLE V DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES
	Section 5.1.  Events of Default.
	Section 5.2.  Remedies on Default.
	Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative.
	Section 5.3.  Remedies Cumulative.

	ARTICLE VI EFFECTIVE DATE, TERM AND TERMINATION
	Section 6.1.  Effective Date and Term.
	Section 6.2.  Cancellation and Expiration of Term.

	ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST
	ARTICLE VII ASSIGNMENT AND PLEDGE OF DEVELOPER'S INTEREST
	Section 7.1.  Consent to Pledge and/or Assignment.
	Section 7.2.  Pledge, Assignment or Security Interest.

	ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS
	Section 8.1.  Successors.
	Section 8.2.  Parties-in-Interest; No Partnership or Joint Venture.
	Section 8.3.  Severability.
	Section 8.4.  No Personal Liability of Officials of the City; No Waiver of Maine Tort Claims Act.
	Section 8.5.  Counterparts.
	Section 8.6.  Governing Law; Venue for Suits
	Section 8.7.  Notices.
	Section 8.8.  Amendments.
	Section 8.9.  Benefit of Assignees or Pledgees.
	Section 8.10.  Integration.
	Section 8.11.  Dispute Resolution.
	Section 8.12. Tax Laws and Valuation Agreement.


	CEA_ForesiteRealty.SBDA_projections

